
IN THE UNITES STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI 

NORTHERN DIVISION 
 

DEVON MODACURE             PLAINTIFF 
 
v.        Civil Action No.: ____________________ 
 
CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, 
JAMES E. DAVIS, individually and 
as Chief of Police of City of Jackson, 
COBEY SMITH, individually and as 
an Officer of City of Jackson, and KENNETH 
SHORT, II, individually and as an Officer 
of City of Jackson                    DEFENDANTS 
 

COMPLAINT 
(Jury Trial Demanded) 

 
1. This Complaint is brought by Devon Modacure acting by and through undersigned 

counsel, against City of Jackson, Mississippi, James E. Davis individually and as Chief 

of Police of City of Jackson, Cobey Smith individually and as an Officer of City of 

Jackson, Kenneth Short, II individually and as an Officer of City of Jackson 

(hereinafter “Defendants”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This action is being brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331, 28 U.S.C. §1343 (1-4), and 

2202 as this case involves a Federal Question based on Plaintiff’s protected rights 

under the U.S. Constitution particularly the 4th, 5th, 8th, and 14th Amendments and 42 

U.S.C. §1983, §1988 and Monell. Plaintiff further invokes the supplemental 

jurisdiction of this Court to adjudicate State law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1367. 

These pendent state law claims include, without limitation, Title 11, Chapter 46, 

known as the Mississippi Tort Claims Act, §11-7-13 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 

as amended, common law claims of negligence and intentional torts. 
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3. Venue is proper in the Southern District of Mississippi, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 

since the actions complained of giving rise to this claim occurred in this judicial 

district. The matter in controversy exclusive of interests and costs exceeds 

$100,000.00 (One Hundred Thousand Dollars). 

PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff is an adult citizen of the State of Mississippi, currently housed as an inmate 

in the Federal Correctional Institution, located at PMB 1000, Talladega, Alabama 

35160. 

5. Defendant City of Jackson (“City”) is a city entity that may be served with process by 

service on Kristi Moore, City Clerk, at 219 S. President Street, Jackson, MS 39205. 

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant James E. Davis (“Chief”) is an adult resident 

citizen of the State of Mississippi, currently employed with the City of Jackson as 

Chief of Police, and he may be served at his place of employment, located at 327 E. 

Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39205 or his residence. 

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Cobey Smith (“Officer Smith”) is an adult 

resident citizen of the State of Mississippi, currently employed with the City of 

Jackson as an Officer, and he may be served at his place of employment, located at 

327 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39205 or his residence. 

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant Kenneth Short, II (“Officer Short”) is an 

adult resident citizen of the State of Mississippi, currently employed with the City of 

Jackson as an Officer, and he may be served at his place of employment, located at 

327 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39205 or his residence. 
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STATEMENTS 

9. On October 27th, 2017, the City of Jackson received a phone call late Friday night 

that a man had been shot on Memphis Street near Lampton Avenue. Defendant 

Officers (two black males) responded to the scene and came to the area where 

Plaintiff and a group of guys were standing hanging out to inquire about the 

shooting that occurred on Memphis Street. Plaintiff began to walk away but 

returned when instructed by the officers to do so. After Plaintiff walked back toward 

Defendant Officers Smith and Short, the officers attempted to search him which is 

when Plaintiff began to flee on foot. Plaintiff Devon Modacure was shot three times 

in the back by officers of the City of Jackson on Memphis Street in Jackson, MS. At all 

times relevant herein, Plaintiff was unarmed and defenseless. During the course of 

this unconstitutional assault, not one single police officer within the Jackson Police 

Department attempted to stop the unnecessary attack, intercede to prevent further 

abuse or offer medical assistance to Devon Modacure after he was obviously 

significantly injured. In fact, the Raymond Detention Center refused to accept 

custody of Plaintiff because he would require future medical treatment. This 

unconscionable conduct violated both Federal and State Law. Justice for these acts is 

sought by this lawsuit.  

FACTS 

10. The actions involved in this case are the result of the practices, policies and/or 

customs of Defendant City of Jackson (Jackson Police Department) its employees 

including the Police Chief, Police officers, other supervisory officials, and/or other 

employees in the operation of the police department. 
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11. This is a claim for Federal law violations, State law negligence, and intentional torts 

filed by Plaintiff. These violations caused pain and suffering on October 27th, 2017.  

12. Plaintiff was not made safe by employees of the Jackson Police Department while 

being assaulted despite not committing any crime, being unarmed and defenseless. 

Rather, Defendant Chief Davis and Officers Smith and Short breached their duty to 

properly detain, monitor, care for, and provide necessary medical attention to 

Devon Modacure. By doing so, Defendants were deliberately indifferent to Plaintiff’s 

constitutional rights and physical welfare.  

13. Specifically, on October 27th, 2017, Doe Defendants responded to a call late that 

Friday night that a man had been shot on Memphis Street near Lampton Avenue. 

Upon speaking with the victim about the shooting, Defendant Officers saw a group 

of people on Memphis Street. Plaintiff was one of the individual standing on 

Memphis Street at this time.  

14. Defendant Officers Smith and Short aggressively approached the group and began to 

question them. Defendant Officers were upset and irate because no one would 

provide information regarding the shooting that occurred near Memphis Street and 

Lampton Avenue. At this point, Plaintiff began to walk away, but Defendant Officers 

Smith and Short ordered him to come back. 

15. After Plaintiff walked back towards officers, Officers attempted to search him. 

Plaintiff fled on foot and Officers Smith and Short chased him on foot until they 

decided to fire three gunshots towards Plaintiff as he was running away. Plaintiff 

was struck three times in the back as a result of Defendants Smith and Short’s gun 

fire. 
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16. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff was unarmed and defenseless. Defendant 

Officers Smith and Short acted out of anger stating that they were going to kill 

Plaintiff.  

17. Subsequent to shooting Plaintiff, Defendant Officers Smith and Short arrested 

Plaintiff and transported him to UMMC where he was in stable but critical condition. 

Plaintiff remained at UMMC for several days until he was charged with aggravated 

assault. 

18. The Raymond Detention Center refused to accept Plaintiff into custody because he 

would require future medical treatment, so Plaintiff was released on his own 

recognizance.  

19. No police official, employee or other City officer attempted to stop the attack of 

Devon Modacure or offer medical assistance immediately following the shooting of 

Plaintiff, despite knowing about the horrible and obvious injuries the Plaintiff 

received. 

20. At all relevant times, Defendants were on duty at the Jackson Police Department. 

21. The resulting injuries and damages sustained by Plaintiff Devon Modacure was 

caused solely by the Defendants, in violation of Plaintiff’s Civil and Constitutional 

rights, Mississippi State law and without any cause, provocation, or negligence on 

the part of Plaintiff contributing thereto. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Excessive Force & Violation of Due Process under 42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 
22. Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 21, inclusive, as if fully set forth herein. 
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23. Defendant Officers Smith and Short that assaulted Plaintiff Devon Modacure violated 

his due process rights and used excessive physical force, in  unlawfully detaining 

Plaintiff, shooting him three times in the back while unarmed and defenseless. These 

acts were unconstitutional in violation of Plaintiff’s 4th, 5th, 8th and 14th Amendment 

Rights. Plaintiff was not even under arrest at the time of the subject incident and 

this treatment was a violation of his due process rights to be free from cruel and 

unusual punishment and excessive force. 

24. As a result, Plaintiff suffered serious injuries and pain and suffering. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Negligent Training, Supervision and Retention as to  

Defendants City of Jackson and Chief Davis) 
 

25. Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation in paragraph 1 

through 24, inclusive, as if fully set forth herein. 

26. At all relevant times, Defendant City of Jackson and Chief Davis had a duty to screen 

applicants for hire to its Jackson Police Department, retention to its Police 

Department or to discharge from its employ those employees who were not fit, 

suitable, properly trained and instructed, that constituted a potential menace, 

hazard or danger to the public, those with vicious propensities and those with 

emotional, physical, psychological, racist, biased and/or physiological traits or 

characteristics unsuitable, unstable, or contraindicated for such employment. 

27. At all relevant times, it was the duty of Defendant City of Jackson and Chief Davis to 

sufficiently hire, train and retain personnel within the Jackson Police Department 

and at the supervisory, and lower ranked levels so as to sufficiently discipline, 

supervise, and put into effect appropriate rules applicable to the duties, behavior 
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and activities of their servants, agents, officers, police department employees 

and/or personnel. 

28. Upon information and belief, the individually-named Jackson Police Department 

personnel including Officer Smith and Officer Short that fired three gunshots into 

Plaintiff’s back as he ran away were improperly trained, supervised and retained by 

Defendants City of Jackson and Chief Davis. Furthermore, these individually-named 

Defendants responsible for Plaintiff’s injuries had prior histories of using excessive 

force and were known threats to members of the public and therefore improperly 

retained. 

29. As a result of the Defendants’ negligence in its training, supervisory and retention of 

the Defendant officers, servants and Police Department personnel, the Plaintiff was 

caused to suffer significant injuries, without fault or contribution by the Plaintiff. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Supervisory Liability under 42 U.S.C. §1983) 

 
30. Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 29, inclusive, as if fully set forth herein. 

31. Upon information and belief, among the individually-named Defendants were 

supervisors, who was assigned to supervise and control the actions of the named 

City of Jackson police officers. 

32. These Defendants violated their supervisory duties by failing to monitor, care for 

those like the Plaintiff, participating in and/or operating the vicious attack on 

Plaintiff Devon Modacure, striking him three times in the back, without justification. 

And once ordered, they failed to limit the attack, thereby making the use of force 

excessive and the punishment cruel and unusual. 
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Failure to Intervene under 42 U.S.C. §1983) 

 
33. Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 32, inclusive, as if fully set forth herein. 

34. Each of the individually-named Defendants (specifically Defendant Officers Smith 

and Short) had a duty to intervene when they saw illegal conduct taking place in 

connection with the shooting of Plaintiff, the Defendants’ failure to stop the attack 

violated the individually-named Defendants’ duty to intervene and put a stop to the 

unconstitutional acts taking place. 

35. The failure of these Defendants to do so contravened Plaintiff’s constitutional rights 

and violated 42 U.S.C. §1983. As a result, Plaintiff suffered serious physical injuries, 

including pain and suffering. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Negligence of Defendant Officers Smith and Short) 

 
36. Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 35, inclusive, as if fully set forth herein. 

37. Defendant Officers Smith and Short negligently failed to provide for the safety, 

security and protection of the Plaintiff by failing to comply with the City’s own rules 

of conduct as it related to use of force, the monitoring of 

civilians/arrestees/detainees who were in obvious need of such care. The named 

Defendants’ failure to do so was in violation of these policies and constituted 

negligence including the negligent infliction of emotional distress. 
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38. As a result of the foregoing, Plaintiff sustained serious physical injuries that resulted 

in significant injuries including pain and suffering, and mental and emotional 

anxiety. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Intentional Torts under Mississippi State Law – Assault and Battery) 

 
39. Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 38, inclusive, as if fully set forth herein. 

40. As a result of the individually-named Defendants’ actions, including the shooting of 

Plaintiff three times in the back without justification, the Plaintiff was wrongfully 

assaulted and battered without just or probable cause or provocation. These actions 

also resulted in the intentional infliction of emotional distress. 

41. As a result of the foregoing, the Plaintiff suffered serious physical injuries, pain, and 

mental and emotional anguish. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Negligent/Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress) 

 
42. Plaintiff hereby repeats and realleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 41, inclusive, as if fully set forth herein. 

43. Plaintiff Devon Modacure claims that he suffered serious emotional distress as a 

result of Defendants’ actions/misconduct towards him. 

44. The conduct of the Defendants were a substantial factor in causing Plaintiff’s serious 

emotional distress; including but not limited to: anguish, fright, horror, nervousness, 

anxiety, shock, humiliation, and shame that an ordinary, reasonable person would 

be unable with which to cope. 
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 WHEREFORE, THE ABOVE BEING CONSIDERED, the Plaintiff respectfully prays for 

the judgment against all Defendants, including compensatory damages, punitive damages 

against the individually-named Defendants, any and all damages allowed by State and 

Federal law including attorney’s fees under 42 U.S.C. §1983, pre-judgment interest, post-

judgment interest, attorney’s fees, in an aggregate amount well above the jurisdictional 

amount needed to bring this case in this Court. 

 THIS, the 21st day of July, 2020. 

    

       DEVON MODACURE, Plaintiff 

      By: _/s/ Carlos E. Moore________________ 
       Carlos E. Moore, MSB# 100685 
 
 
 
 
 
OF COUNSEL: 
 
THE COCHRAN FIRM – Mississippi Delta 
306 Branscome Drive 
P. O. Box 1487 
Grenada, MS 38902-1487 
662-227-9940 – phone 
662-227-9941 – fax 
Email: cmoore@cochranfirm.com 
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